STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

SEP 20 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

AARON YOUNG, SR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000873

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State's evidence of murder was dependent upon a combination of mutual combat, accomplice liability and transferred intent to an innocent third party not engaged in mutual combat?
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for murder when the State failed to establish mutual combat at the time of the fatal shooting?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On October 30, 2014, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted appellant Young for murder and attempted murder, indictments #2012-GS-07-2173, 2014-GS-07-1941. On August 10, 2015, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper. Robert Ferguson represented Appellant at trial. Isaac McDuffie Stone, III, and Sean Thorton prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on both counts. Judge Cooper sentenced Appellant to thirty (30) years for murder and a concurrent twenty (20) years for attempted murder. On April 18, 2016, Judge Cooper denied the timely filed motion for reconsideration of sentence. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on April 21, 2106. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Khalil Singleton was fatally shot by Tyrone Robinson. Tyrone Robinson was charged and convicted of the murder of Khalil Singleton. Khalil Singleton was not Robinson's intended victim. When Robinson fired the shot that killed Khalil Singleton, he was shooting at Appellant and his son, Aaron Young Jr. as they were leaving the neighborhood in their truck. Appellant and his son Aaron Young, Jr. were also charged and convicted, in separate trials, of the murder of Khalil Singleton and the attempted murder of Tyrone Robinson. The State alleged that the Youngs were involved in mutual combat with the Tyrone Robinson at the time that Robinson fatally shot Khalil Singleton. Khalil Singleton was an innocent third party and not involved in the earlier dispute between the Youngs and Robinson.

## ARGUMENTS

1. The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State's evidence of murder was dependent upon a combination of mutual combat, accomplice liability and transferred intent to an innocent third party not engaged in mutual combat.

The murder indictment in the present case alleges, "That in Beaufort County on or about September 1, 2012, Aaron Scott Young Sr. did willfully, unlawfully and with malice aforethought engage in mutual combat with Tyrone Robinson and did thereby cause the victim Khalil Singleton to be shot and killed in the area of Marshland Drive and Allen Road, Hilton Head Island, SC and that Khalil Singleton did die in Beaufort County as a proximate result thereof on September 1, 2012; in violation of Section 16-3-10 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976), as amended." (R. p. 874). Prior to trial Appellant moved to quash the murder indictment. (R. p. 480, line 23 – p. 481, 482, lines 1-3). The trial judge denied the motion to quash stating:

And we know that the law is, or at least I think that the law is, that in the context of mutual combat the cases indicate that whoever is shot on either side, all who are involved can be guilty of the crime of murder if the person who is shot dies.

And we dealt last time with the case of Aaron Young, Jr. with whether or not that transferred intent that would go from one combatant to another combatant in mutual combat also transfers to an innocent victim. That matter is yet to be decided by an appellate court. It's on appeal now. But it is that particular factual distinction, I think, or that factual anomaly in this case does not render the indictment invalid, because the facts in this case indicate that there was mutual combat. Suggested there was mutual combat, and that an innocent person was killed in the course of that.

(R. p. 484, lines 3-19).

Jontu Singleton, Sr. testified that on September 1, 2012, he and Tyrone Robinson went to Aaron Young Sr.'s house where Robinson pointed a .38 caliber revolver at Aaron Young, Jr. (R. p. 569, line 9 – p. 570, lines 1-13). Jontu Singleton testified that as Appellant and Robinson

were struggling over the gun, Robinson shot in the air two times and then shot at Appellant's feet. (R. p. 571, lines 1-5). Robinson left in his car, leaving Jontu Singleton behind at the Young residence. (R. p. 571, lines 6-17). According to Jontu Singleton, Appellant retrieved a duffle bag from inside the house and then Appellant, Young Jr. and Jontu Singleton got into Appellant's gray pickup truck. (R. p. 571, line 20 – p. 572, lines 1-15). Jontu Singleton testified that as Appellant was driving, Young Jr. took a gun out of the bag and was trying to put the gun together. (R. p. 572, line 16 – p. 573, 574, lines 1-4). He described the gun as looking like a "TEC-9." (R. p. 573, lines 6-9). Jontu Singleton believed that the Youngs were looking for Tyrone Robinson. (R. p. 574, lines 20-23). The three were unable to find Robinson and returned to the Young residence where Jontu Singleton got out of the truck but Appellant and Young Jr. left again. (R. p. 576, line 2 – p. 577, lines 1-8).

Charlese Mitchell, Appellant's cousin, testified that on September 1, 2012, about 4:00 PM she heard a round of quick shots and then saw Appellant pass by her house in his gray truck. (R. p. 511, line 3 – p. 512, 513, lines 1-5). Shortly after hearing the shots and seeing Appellant, Tyrone Robinson came to Mitchell's house and told her that the "MFs were out there shooting at him." (R. p. 519, lines 10-19). Mitchell noticed a black handle sticking out of Robinson's red shorts. (R. p. 520, lines 1-2). Robinson was outside using Mitchell's phone when Mitchell's boyfriend, Tyrone Delaney, came home. (R. p. 520, line 5 – p. 521, lines 1-13). Delaney and Robinson spoke and Robinson then left. Ten to fifteen minutes later Mitchell heard a second set of rapid shots. (R. p. 533, lines 16-24). Within five minutes of the second set of shots, Mitchell saw Appellant again drive past her house. (R. p. 525, line 11 – p. 526, lines 1-17; p. 537, lines 1-4). As Appellant's truck passed her house, Mitchell heard three last shots that sounded different from the rapid shots. (R. p. 524, lines 18-25; p. 537, lines 16-18). Mitchell then saw Robinson

fly past in his car with a shattered back window. (R. p. 527, lines 2-5). After hearing the last three shots, Mitchell went outside and saw that Khalil Singleton had been shot. (R. p. 528, lines 7-18).

Tyrone Delaney testified when he arrived home from work, Robinson was in the front yard using the phone. (R. p. 543, lines 3-16). Robinson asked Delaney if he had seen a gray truck and he told Delaney, "That mother was shooting at me, so I shot back." (R. p. 543, lines 23-24). Delaney testified that Robinson was armed with a .38 revolver. (R. p. 544, lines 12-19). Delaney testified that after Robinson left Delaney heard rapid fire and asked Mitchell to call the children, his son, Xavier Delaney, Jontu Singleton Jr. and Khalil Singleton, inside. (R. p. 546, line 8 – p. 547, lines 1-8). Xavier Delaney came inside but Jontu Singleton Jr. and Khalil Singleton went the other way. (R. p. 547, lines 7-11). Delaney then heard another set of three shots that sounded different from the first set. (R. p. 545, line 24 – p. 546, lines 1-4; p. 547, line 12-14).

Dominique Griffin was inside of his house when he heard shots. (R. p. 553, line 6 – p. 554, lines 1-7). When the shots stopped, he went outside to check on his stepson, Jontu Singleton, Jr. (R. p. 554 lines 8-12). Griffin testified that Jontu was crying and pointing at Mr. Robinson saying, [H]e shot Khalil, he shot Khalil." (R. p. 554, lines 17-18). The bullet removed from Khalil Singleton was "consistent with round nose plain lead bullets loaded into a .38 special caliber cartridge. . ." (R. p. 644, lines 1-12). Griffin testified that he saw Robinson's car parked and there were bullet holes in the back window. (R. p. 555, lines 14-22). Robinson walked toward his car and looked like he was in a rush to leave. (R. p. 555, lines 20-25).

Officers initiated a traffic stop of Appellant's vehicle and found 9 mm shell casings in the back of the truck. (R. pp. 582-586). The SLED firearm expert testified that the casings found in

the back of the truck matched the bullets that had been shot into Robinson's car. (R. p. 636, lines 7-14). Appellant provided statements to Investigators Seifert and Bromage with the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department. Appellant told the officers that his son shot at Robinson because Robinson was shooting at them. (R. p. 602, lines 2-5).

At the close of the State's case Appellant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal. (R. p. 654, line 13 – p. 655, lines 1-15). Defense counsel noted that there was no indication that Appellant ever fired a weapon. (R. p. 654, lines 24-25). Counsel noted that Appellant was not aiding, abetting, assisting or conspiring with Tyrone Robinson. (R. p. 654, lines 18-23). Counsel argued that the elements of murder had not been satisfied through a theory of mutual combat. (R. p. 655, lines 9-15). The judge denied the motion stating:

The law that we've already talked about, the law of mutual combat, the law of transferred intent are the sort of things that come together in a legal scenario, and they create responsibility. And, of course, laws can do that and do that quite often.

And so for the reason I feel the elements of murder as they apply in this particular case of mutual combat, along with the transferred intent aspect of that as well, that the State has satisfied its burden in that regard sufficient to sustain the motion for directed verdict at this juncture.

(R. p: 656, line 21 – p. 657, lines 1-6). The trial judge erred. The State's hybrid theory of liability based on mutual combat, accomplice liability and transferred intent is not supported by the law.

Mutual combat is inapplicable under the facts of this case. In State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 450–51, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495–96 (1973) the South Carolina Supreme court wrote:

The basic principles governing the doctrine of mutual combat are thus stated in 40 C.J.S. Homicide s 122, p. 996:

'Where a person voluntarily participates in . . . mutual combat for purposes other than protection, he cannot justify or excuse the killing of his adversary in the

course of such conflict on the ground of self-defense, regardless of what extremity or imminent peril he may be reduced to in the progress of the combat, unless, before the homicide is committed, he withdraws and endeavors in good faith to decline further conflict, and, either by word or act, makes that fact known to his adversary, . . . .’

In State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231–32, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003), the South Carolina

Supreme Court wrote:

The doctrine of mutual combat has existed in South Carolina since at least 1843, but has fallen out of common use in recent years. The case law does establish that there must be “mutual intent and willingness to fight” to constitute mutual combat. State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 450, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495 (1973). Mutual intent is “manifested by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances attending and leading up to the combat.” Id. Whether or not mutual combat exists is significant because “the plea of self-defense is not available to one who kills another in mutual combat.” Id. (citing State v. Jones, 113 S.C. 134, 101 S.E. 647 (1919)). In order to claim self-defense, the defendant “must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty.” State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984). Because mutual combat requires mutual intent and willingness to fight, if a defendant is found to have been involved in mutual combat, the “no fault” element of self-defense cannot be established.

The judge instructed the jury<sup>1</sup> on the law of mutual combat stating:

Now, as you know, the indictment in this case charges Mr. Young with murder in connection with mutual combat. The State, of course, has not alleged, no one alleges, that Mr. Young actually fired the fatal shot that killed Khalil Singleton. It alleges, the State does, that it is a law of mutual combat that makes him guilty of that murder. So we look at the law of mutual combat.

Mutual combat exists when there is mutual intent and willingness to fight. Mutual intent is shown by the acts and conduct of the parties and circumstances which attend and lead up to the combat itself. The circumstances necessary to establish mutual combat include whether there is any evidence of preexisting ill will or dispute between the two parties, and whether the combatants agree to be armed. Because a history of ill will and an agreement to be armed are necessary before a defendant is deemed to have engaged in mutual combat. In other words, to constitute mutual combat, it is not necessary that there is a positive agreement between the parties to enter into combat. It is enough if they willfully enter into the conflict upon the impulse of the moment.

---

<sup>1</sup> There was no objection to the instruction on the law of mutual combat. This issue may need to be raised in post-conviction relief.

And in that regard, I tell you that everyone is presumed to know the consequences of his act. And if one voluntarily enters a mutual combat, where deadly weapons are used, knowing that they're being used, and death results to one of the participating parties, everyone engaged in such combat is equally guilty regardless of whether or not he used a deadly weapon or not. And regardless of whether he was on one side or the other, it makes no difference. And where all are participating in the mutual combat, all are equally responsible for the natural consequences. In other words, where people agree to have a mutual combat, they're engaged in an unlawful act. They're all presumed to intend the consequences which naturally flow from an unlawful act. And if one of the participants be on one side himself and the other be slain by participating in the mutual combat, all are equally guilty of the killing. Therefore, it is not the identity of the victim but the intent of the perpetrator, the state of mind of the perpetrator, the existence of malice, that is determinative in that regard.

(R. p. 833, line 21 – p. 834, 835, lines 1-14).

A similar instruction was upheld in State v. Brown, 108 S.C. 490, 95 S.E. 61 (1918). The facts in the Brown case are factually distinct from the facts in the present case. In Brown a fight broke out between striking and non-striking mill workers. One of the strikers was fatally stabbed. Two strikers who participated in the fight and three non-strikers who participated in the fight were charged with murder and convicted of manslaughter although only one of them inflicted the fatal stab wound. The Brown case is the classical example of the uncommon and outdated theory of mutual combat. If both of the Youngs had participated in mutual combat with Robinson<sup>2</sup> and Young Jr. had been fatally shot by Robinson, under the Brown theory of mutual combat both Robinson and Young Sr. could be charged with murder. In the present case, however, a non-participating innocent by-stander was fatally shot, not a mutual combatant. Mutual combat does not establish liability for Appellant under the facts of this case.

Transferred intent does not establish liability for Appellant under the facts of this case.

In State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 272–73, 531 S.E.2d 512, 515–16 (2000) the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

---

<sup>2</sup> As argued in issue two, Appellant was not engaged in mutual combat with Robinson.

This Court in several cases has held that a defendant may be found guilty of murder or manslaughter in a case of bad or mistaken aim under the doctrine of transferred intent. In the classic case, the defendant intends to kill or seriously injure one person, but misses that person and mistakenly kills another. Although the defendant did not act with malice toward the unintended victim, the defendant's criminal intent to kill the intended victim (i.e., his mental state of malice) is transferred to the unintended victim. "If there was malice in [defendant's] heart, he was guilty of the crime charged, it matters not whether he killed his intended victim or a third person through mistake." State v. Heyward, 197 S.C. 371, 377, 15 S.E.2d 669, 672 (1941) (affirming murder conviction where defendant testified he mistakenly shot and killed police officer who allegedly broke open his front door, believing the officer to be an assassin sent by an angry former employer). See also State v. Gandy, 283 S.C. 571, 324 S.E.2d 65 (1984) (affirming murder conviction where defendant intending to kill one man shot through a closed door, killing unintended victim \*273 instead), overruled on other grounds by State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 434 S.E.2d 272 (1993); State v. Horne, 282 S.C. 444, 447, 319 S.E.2d 703, 704 (1984) (holding that State in future may prosecute defendant for murder of viable fetus when defendant attacks a pregnant woman with malice and in the process kills the fetus, an unintended victim); State v. Williams, 189 S.C. 19, 24, 199 S.E. 906, 908 (1938) (affirming murder conviction where defendant shot at intended victim who was driving a wagon of cotton, but missed him and mistakenly killed the man sitting beside him); LaFave & Scott, *Substantive Criminal Law*, § 3.12(d) (1986) (discussing transferred intent); McAninch & Fairey, at 17-19 (same).

Robinson was properly found guilty of the murder of Khalil Singleton under the doctrine of transferred intent. Robinson intended to kill either Appellant or his son or both but missed and killed Khalil Singleton instead. At the time Robinson fired the fatal shot, he did it with malice toward Appellant and Young Jr. Robinson's malice and intent to kill Appellant was transferred to the unintended victim. The State, however, failed to prove malice as it relates to Appellant. Robinson was the shooter, not Appellant. Transferred intent is not applicable under the facts of this case.

Accomplice liability is not applicable to establish murder under the facts of this case. Appellant was not aiding, abetting, assisting or conspiring with Tyrone Robinson. At the time Robinson shot and killed Khalil Singleton, neither Young Jr. nor Appellant were shooting.

Instead, at the time of the fatal shooting Appellant and Young Jr. were leaving the neighborhood in their truck.

In State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011), the South Carolina

Supreme Court wrote:

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 583, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999)). The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001).

S.C. Code §16-3-10 defines murder as “the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the State failed to prove that Appellant killed Khalil Singleton with malice aforethought. Mutual combat is inapplicable under the facts of this case involving the death of an innocent noncombatant. Neither the doctrine of transferred intent nor the doctrine of accomplice liability establishes the elements necessary to submit the murder charge to the jury. The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State’s evidence of murder was dependent upon a combination of mutual combat, accomplice liability and transferred intent to an innocent third party not engaged in mutual combat. The State’s hybrid theory of liability based on mutual combat, accomplice liability and transferred intent is not supported by the law.

2. The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for murder when the State failed to establish mutual combat at the time of the fatal shooting.

As argued above in issue one, the State's theory of liability based on mutual combat is not recognized by South Carolina law and should not be. If this Court, however, decides to extend the theory of mutual combat to innocent bystander noncombatants, the theory would not apply in the present case because at the time Robinson shot Khalil Singleton, Appellant was not engaged in mutual combat. The testimony reflects that Appellant and his son were leaving the neighborhood on Allen Road in their truck when Robinson shot at them, killing Khalil Singleton.