**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Appeal from Beaufort County  
Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**AARON YOUNG, SR.,**

**Appellant**

**Appellate Case No. 2016-000873**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC, 29211-1549  
(803)-734-3665**

**ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE  
Solicitor, 14<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **This issue is not preserved for appellate review; however, Judge Cooper did not abuse his discretion and properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because under South Carolina law mutual combat, transferred intent, and accomplice liability could form the basis for a murder conviction.**

The first directed verdict issue raised by Appellant is not preserved for appellate review because it was not raised to Judge Cooper at the directed verdict motion. Notwithstanding Appellant's argument to the contrary, Judge Cooper did not abuse his discretion in holding mutual combat, transferred intent, and accomplice liability were valid legal principles on which to base a murder charge and conviction. (R. 656-57). Accordingly, Judge Cooper did not abuse his discretion in denying the motion for directed verdict. This appellate issue has no merit and must be denied.

### **Relevant Facts and Proceedings**

#### *Motion to Quash the Indictment*

After jury selection, Appellant made a motion to quash the murder indictment. (R. 481-82). Appellant claimed the indictment provided inadequate notice and was improper because of the included language regarding mutual combat. The indictment read that Appellant and his son were engaged in mutual combat with Tyrone Robinson and thereby proximately caused the death of Khalil Singleton. (R. 483-85, murder Indictment). Judge Cooper denied the motion to quash the indictment finding the indictment was sufficient because it put Appellant on notice of the charge he must meet, informed him of when the crime was alleged to have occurred, and informed him of how the crime was alleged to have occurred so Appellant could mount and present a defense. (R. 483-85). Specifically, in denying the motion to quash the indictment, Judge Cooper held:

And we know that the law is, or at least I think that the law is, that in the context of mutual combat the cases indicate that whoever is shot on either side, all who are involved can be guilty of the crime of murder if the person who is shot dies.

And we dealt last time with the case of Aaron Young, Jr. with whether or not that transferred intent that would go from one combatant to another combatant in mutual combat also transfers to an innocent victim. That matter is yet to be decided by an appellate court. It's on appeal now. But it is that particular factual distinction, I think, or that factual anomaly in this case does not render the indictment invalid, because the facts in this case indicate that there was mutual combat. Suggested there was mutual combat, and that an innocent person was killed in the course of that.

(R. 484, lines 3-19). Appellant does not appeal Judge Cooper's denial of the motion to quash the indictment. (IBOA).

#### *Motion for Directed Verdict*

At the close of the State's case and Appellant's case, Appellant made a motion for a directed verdict on murder. (R. 654-57, 749).<sup>7</sup> Particularly, Appellant argued that no evidence was presented of the elements of the crime of murder; no evidence was presented of mutual combat between Appellant and Robinson; and no evidence was presented that the victim's death was a natural consequence of that mutual combat. (R. 654-57, 749.). Specifically, Appellant's directed verdict motion was as follows:

At this point, we would make a motion for a directed verdict. Essentially, it is our contention that the elements of murder have not been met. What we have is essentially Tyrone Robinson admittedly committing murder. Aaron Young, Senior is not aiding, abetting, or assisting Tyrone Robinson. He's not Conspiring with Tyrone Robinson. In fact, under the State's theory, is his opposing Tyrone Robinson.

There is no indication that Aaron Young, Senior ever fired a weapon. There is no testimony that Khalil's death was a natural consequence of the actions that we allege were conducted by Mr. Young, and that being the shooting up of a car. Natural consequences, trying to predict what Tyrone Robinson is going to do is a difficult task, to say the least. He is an unpredictable individual. You know, the

---

<sup>7</sup> At the close of the defense case, Appellant simply renewed his previous motion for directed verdict on the same basis as that made at the close of the State's case. (R. 749).

theory of the State that the Youngs shot the car to draw him out of hiding, I think is just their theory.

Your Honor, you know, we would ask that you direct the verdict at this point just based on the fact that the elements of murder have not been satisfied, that mutual combat has not been proven, and that if Your Honor finds that mutual combat, there is evidence for that, that they haven't shown that the death of Khalil Singleton was a natural consequence thereof.

(R. 654, l. 14 – 655, l. 15). The State responded to the motion as follows:

MR. STONE: Just briefly, Your Honor. I would agree that I do not believe that, nor have I argued that Tyrone Robinson and the Youngs were working in concert. It is not a theory that the hand of one is the hand of all, in that context.

I do, however, believe that there's been ample testimony that this was a shootout. I think you have heard it from witnesses describing the rapid fire shots compared to the three - - the three other shots to definite sets of shots at Allen Road. You have testimony as to different trajectories of the, which also, I think, indicates that the car may have been shot in two different locations.

Even taking Aaron Young's statement, he makes the statement that he shot back at them because they shot at - - because Tyrone Robinson was shooting at him. The son is clearly the shooter in the truck, we do not argue that Aaron Young, Senior is the shooter. However, I think that is where the hand of one is the hand of all comes into play.

I think this is a mutual combat situation. I think under a number of people's testimony, it is. And I don't think - - I think from that standpoint, that is the State's - - that's the State's theory on this.

(R. 655, l. 18 – 656, l. 16). Judge Cooper denied the motion for a directed verdict on murder holding as follows:

THE COURT: Mr. Ferguson, it is, in fact, in my view a factor of the law rather than the narrow facts themselves, which impose liability - - a potential liability on Mr. Aaron Young, Senior.

The law that we've already talked about, the law of mutual combat, the law of transferred intent are the sort of things that come together in a legal scenario, and they create responsibility. And, of course, laws can do that and do that quite often.

And so for that reason I feel that the elements of murder as they apply in this particular case of mutual combat, along with the transferred intent aspect of that

as well, that the State has satisfied its burden in that regard sufficient to sustain the motion for a directed verdict at this juncture. That's respectfully denied.

(R. 656, l. 17 – 657, l. 6). Judge Cooper correctly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. Appellant now appeals the denial of the motion for directed verdict for two (2) reasons, one (1) which was not raised below at the directed verdict stage [Argument I.] and one (1) which was raised below and denied [Argument II.].

### *Lack of Preservation of the 1<sup>st</sup> Issue Raised on Appeal*

Appellant now argues on appeal he was entitled to a directed verdict because he alleges mutual combat is not a criminal offense, but rather a bar to self-defense; transferred intent should not be applied to a mutual combat situation; and accomplice liability should not apply in a mutual combat situation. This issue is not preserved for appellate review because it was not raised to the trial court at the directed verdict motion.<sup>8</sup> Instead, Appellant argued the State had not proved: (1) the elements of murder; (2) there was mutual combat at the time of Khalil's death; or (3) Khalil's death was a foreseeable result of the mutual combat. Appellant's argument on appeal is completely different from what he raised at the directed verdict motion. Appellant now raises a legal argument not the factual argument he raised below. Appellant now argues that he could not be convicted of murder under South Carolina law under legal principles of mutual combat, transferred intent, and accomplice liability. In reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 503 S.E.2d 214, 221 (Ct. App. 1998), *aff'd*, 524 S.E.2d 837 (1999); State v. Jordan, 255 S.C. 86, 177 S.E.2d 464 (1970). A defendant cannot argue on appeal an issue in support of his directed verdict motion when the issue was not

---

<sup>8</sup> Again, although Appellant quotes Judge Cooper's ruling on the motion to quash the indictment in his brief, Appellant does not appeal Judge Cooper's denial of the motion to quash the indictment but the denial of his directed verdict motion. (IBOA).

presented to the trial court below. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal.”). As a result, Appellant’s current Argument I. on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. Regardless, even if Appellant had preserved the issue he now argues to this Court, there is no merit to his argument.

***General Standard of Review***  
*(Appellate)*

In criminal cases, this Court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). Thus on review, the appellate court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Garrett, 350 S.C. 613, 619, 567 S.E.2d 523, 526 (Ct. App. 2002).

***Standard of Review / Directed Verdict***  
*(Appellate)*

A defendant may only appeal from a trial judge’s denial of a motion for a directed verdict of acquittal where there is a total failure of competent evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, and absent an error of law, the ruling must stand. State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 322 S.E.2d 450 (1984); State v. Tyner, 273 S.C. 646, 258 S.E. 2d 559 (1979); State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 243 S.E.2d 195 (1978). In reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence **and** all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 783 S.E.2d 802 (2016); State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d 352, 753 (2016); State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014); State v. Lemire, 406 S.C. 558, 753 S.E.2d 247 (Ct. App. 2013), *citing* State v. Weston, 367 S.C.

279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006).

The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 740 S.E.2d 493, 495 (2013); State v. Gilliland, 402 S.C. 389, 741 S.E.2d 521, \*3 (Ct. App. 2012). If there is any direct evidence, or if there is substantial circumstantial evidence, reasonably tending to prove the defendant's guilt, this Court must find the trial court properly submitted the case to the jury. Brown, 740 S.E.2d at 495; State v. Rogers 405 S.C. 554, 748 S.E.2d 265 (Ct. App. 2013), *citing* State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011); Gilliland at \*3. This Court considers only the existence or non-existence of evidence, not witness' credibility or the evidence' weight, in reviewing the denial of a directed verdict. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d at 353; State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478-79 (2004); Rogers *supra*, n. 5, 748 S.E.2d 265, n. 5.

Our courts have repeatedly held, where the evidence is circumstantial, the evidence will be considered as a whole, not in isolation, in determining whether there was sufficient evidence to submit the case to the jury. State v. Frazier, 386 S.C. 526, 532-33, 689 S.E.2d 610,613-14 (2010)(viewing circumstantial evidence "collectively" and "as a whole" to hold directed verdict properly denied); Cherry, 361 S.C. at 595, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (finding circumstantial evidence, when combined, was sufficient to for the fact finder to infer guilt); State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 323-24, 555 S.E.2d 402, 405-06 (2001); Rogers, 405 S.C. 554, 748 S.E.2d 265.

If the State has presented any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, this Court must affirm the trial court's decision to submit the case to the jury. State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013). "The appellate court may reverse the trial judge's denial of a motion for a directed verdict only if there is no evidence to support the judge's ruling." State v. Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 42, 615 S.E.2d 455,

464 (Ct. App. 2005). In reviewing the trial judge's denial of a motion for a directed verdict, this Court is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis. Pearson, 415 S.C. 473-74, 783 S.E.2d 907-08; Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d at 354, *citing* State v. Ballenger, 322 S.C. 196, 199, 470 S.E.2d 851, 853 (1996). If examining the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there is evidence in the record which could induce a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty, then this Court must affirm the trial judge's denial of the motion for a directed verdict. Pearson, 415 S.C. at 474, 783 S.E.2d 808; Bennett, 781 S.E.2d at 354.

This Court must concern itself solely with the existence of evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer guilt. Bennett, 415 S.C. at 237, 781 S.E.2d at 354. This objective test is founded upon reasonableness. Id. "If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the [appellate court] must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." Weston, 367 S.C. at 292, 625 S.E.2d at 648.

The "any evidence" standard also requires that "the existence of 'any direct evidence' proving the defendant's guilt mandates the denial of a directed verdict motion." State v. Phillips, 411 S.C. 124, 133, 767 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2014), *reh'g denied* (Jan. 27, 2015). Direct evidence is based on personal knowledge or observation which, "*if true*, proves a fact without inference or presumption." Id. (*quoting* Rogers, 405 S.C. at 563, 748 S.E.2d at 270 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted) (alteration in original)). This is because "[t]he presentation of direct evidence 'immediately establishes the main fact to be proved.'" Phillips at 133, 767 S.E.2d at 448 (*quoting* State v. Salisbury, 343 S.C. 520, 524 n. 1, 541 S.E.2d 247, 249 n.1 (2001)).

Moreover, in ruling on a directed verdict motion where the State relies on circumstantial evidence, the court must determine whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Bennett, 415 S.C. at 237, 781 S.E.2d at 354. Recently, in Pearson, our Supreme Court made it clear the State need not present evidence sufficient to exclude every other hypothesis at the directed verdict stage. Pearson, 415 S.C. 473-74, 783 S.E.2d 802.

Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)). The United States Supreme Court noted the following:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, **and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.**

Jackson, at 319 (second emphasis added).

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